THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
AUG 14 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213026

The State.....Respondent,
v.
Jabari LinnenAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James A. Byars
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
803.771.8900
JByars@nexsenpruet.com

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Appellate Division
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Post Office Box 11589
Columbia, South Carolina 29201-1589
803.734.1330

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying Defendant's Request to Charge Number 4 on the "Protection of Persons and Property Act," S.C. Code § 16-11-410 *et seq.*, providing that a person has no duty to retreat from a vehicle and has the right to use force, including deadly force, when he reasonably believes such force is necessary to prevent the commission of a violent crime, when Appellant presented evidence that he exited his vehicle and fired shots at the alleged victim in the area immediately outside his vehicle, in response to threats of imminent violence and based upon his reasonable belief that the alleged victim was reaching for a weapon immediately prior to the shooting, such that he had no duty to retreat?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Beaufort County grand jury on one count of attempted murder and one count of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. (R. pp. 1-4.) On September 18, 2012, Appellant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein. (R. p. 7.) Jim Brown represented Appellant and Sean P. Thornton represented the State. (*Id.*)

At the conclusion of the trial on September 21, 2012, the jury found Appellant not guilty of attempted murder, guilty of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and guilty of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 369, ln. 22—p. 370, ln. 10.) Judge Goodstein sentenced Appellant to twenty years imprisonment for the aggravated assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature charge and five years concurrent for the weapon charge. (R. p. 374, ln. 21—p. 375, ln. 4.)

This appeal follows.

RELEVANT FACTS

A. The Alleged Crime

On April 21, 2011, Appellant was riding down Luther Warren Drive on St. Helena Island in the passenger seat of his own vehicle. (R. p. 168, ln. 23—p. 170, ln. 2.) Appellant's friend, King David Williams, was driving because Appellant's license was under suspension. (*Id.*; R. p. 242, lns. 4-10.) Appellant's pregnant girlfriend, Desiree Blanding, was in the backseat of the car. (R. p. 240, lns. 23-25.) Appellant and Williams were driving Blanding home from school when they approached a stop sign on the corner of Luther Warren and Seaside Road. (R. p. 269, lns. 2-6.) They observed the alleged victim, Kenneth Treyvon Nichols, near a large oak tree at the corner. (R. p. 170, lns. 9-19; R. p. 269, lns. 2-13.)

Appellant presented testimony that Appellant and Nichols had been "beefing" since high school. (R. p. 206, lns. 5-17; R. p. 207, lns. 2-6.) Nichols, who was unemployed, often sat at the oak tree, and Nichols routinely made threatening comments to Appellant as Appellant drove by the tree. (R. p. 186, lns. 18-22; R. p. 248, lns. 15-23.) On previous occasions, Nichols threw glass bottles into the street as Appellant's car was approaching the intersection and ran up to Appellant's car and kicked the door as Appellant drove past. (R. p. 191, lns. 2-9; R. p. 246, ln. 19—p. 247, ln. 24.) Appellant presented testimony that Nichols had a reputation in the community for fighting and violence. (R. p. 195, lns. 12-18; R. p. 245, lns. 3-19.) In addition to his reputation, Appellant presented evidence that Nichols had been arrested for several incidents of violence in the months and years prior to the shooting, including battery of his grandfather and assault of his grandmother and mother. (R. p. 135, ln. 3—p. 136, ln. 11.) Appellant was aware of Nichols' reputation for violence

and Nichols' frequent interactions with police. (R. p. 244, ln. 21—p. 245, ln. 16; 530, lns. 19-24.)

As Appellant and Williams drove by Nichols on April 21, 2011, Nichols directed threatening words towards Appellant. (R. p. 189, ln. 6—p. 190, ln. 13; R. p. 161, lns. 3-5.) Williams testified that he believed Nichols wanted to fight Appellant. (R. p. 189, ln. 6—p. 190, ln. 13.) Williams further testified that Nichols is physically much bigger than Appellant. (R. p. 193, lns. 10-14.) Appellant testified that he was afraid of Nichols. (R. p. 251, lns. 9-18.)

After dropping Blanding off, Appellant and Williams approached the corner where Nichols was sitting a second time, from the opposite direction. (R. p. 269, lns. 17-21.) As Appellant's car came to a stop at the stop sign, Appellant and Williams testified that Nichols aggressively approached Appellant's vehicle, and began cursing at Appellant and calling him names. (R. p. 125, lns. 3-6; R. p. 131, lns. 11-22; R. p. 270, lns. 3-4.) More specifically, Appellant testified that Nichols repeatedly stated, "[t]his is my hood, nigga. What the fuck you doing around here? This ain't your turf." (R. p. 269, ln. 18—p. 270, ln. 2.) When he reached Appellant's car, Nichols threw a soda can into Appellant's car, striking Appellant. (R. p. 125, lns. 7-11; R. p. 171, ln. 10—p. 172, ln. 9; R. p. 159, ln. 14—p. 160, ln. 15; R. p. 270, lns. 3-10.) Williams testified that Nichols then told Appellant, "get out of the car, pussy." (R. p. 206, 18-23.)

Appellant exited his vehicle and began to circle the car, intending to speak to Nichols and to confront him regarding throwing the soda can in his car and to ask him why he continued to harass him and his girlfriend's family when they drove or walked by that corner. (R. p. 172, ln. 2—p. 173, ln. 20; R. p. 270, lns. 8-15; R. p. 275, ln. 22—S.R. p. 21,

ln. 2.) Appellant remained very close to the vehicle. (R. p. 173, lns. 1-15.) In response, Nichols quickly approached Appellant where they met immediately outside the vehicle on the driver's side and continued to argue. (R. p. 187, ln. 19—p. 189, ln. 5; R. p. 211, lns. 7-13.) Nichols was hostile and motioning with his arms. *Id.*; (R. p. 127, lns. 7-13.) Nichols was wearing baggy sweat pants with his hands near his waist. (R. p. 195, ln. 19—p. 196, ln. 5.)

As he approached Appellant at the car, Nichols made the statement, “[y]o, sup nigga, so you ready to die, nigga?” (R. p. 270, lns. 16-24.) Appellant saw Nichols reach inside the waist of his pants, presumably for a weapon. (R. p. 283, ln. 3—p. 285, ln. 2.) In fear for his life, Appellant removed a handgun from his waist behind his back and began to shoot Nichols. (R. p. 270, ln. 20—p. 271, ln. 18; R. p. 273, lns. 17-22; R. p. 294, lns. 12-20.) Nichols was shot several times in the thigh, arm, and torso. (R. p. 130, lns. 19-20.) Appellant turned himself in the following day.

A Beaufort County grand jury indicted Appellant on one count of attempted murder and one count of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. (R. pp. 1, 3.)

B. Appellant's Requested Jury Instruction

The case proceeded to jury trial on September 18-21, 2012. Following closing arguments by counsel, the Court instructed the jury panel on the law of the case, including common law self-defense. Although requested by Appellant's trial counsel as Defendant's Request to Charge Number 4, the Court refused to instruct the jury of the effect of the “Protection of Persons and Property Act,” S.C. Code § 16-11-410 *et seq.*, on

Appellant's duty to retreat following an attack in an occupied vehicle.¹ See Court's Exhibit 2.

Appellant's counsel timely objected to the Court's refusal to instruct the jury on Request to Charge Number 4. (R. p. 364, ln. 24—p. 365, ln. 10.) The Court overruled the objection and the application of the Castle Doctrine to the facts of the case, stating:

... [L]et me just say that I do not believe that the Castle Doctrine, with regards to the vehicle, applies to these facts. Given the dictates of the Castle Doctrine, give the facts of this matter that there was the Coke can that was thrown, and then this gentleman chose to get out of his car while on the public way, get out of the car, walk around the car, and walk towards the alleged victim and begin shooting. I don't believe that this is what is contemplated by the Castle Doctrine. We will know one day, because it is a developing theory, so we will know.

(R. p. 365, ln. 25—p. 366, ln. 9.)

C. Appellant's Conviction

Following jury instructions, the jury deliberated for nearly three hours before reaching a verdict of not guilty of attempted murder, guilty of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and guilty of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 369, ln. 22—p. 370, ln. 10.) The court sentenced Appellant to twenty years imprisonment for the assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature charge and five years for the possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime charge, to run concurrently. (R. p. 374, ln. 21—p. 375, ln. 4.)

¹ Appellant's Request to Charge 4, titled "Right to Stand Your Ground," reads: "The Castle Doctrine, which recognizes that a person's home is his castle has been extended to include an occupied vehicle. Residents and visitors of South Carolina have the right to remain unmolested and safe within their vehicles. A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a crime."

ARGUMENT

The judge erred by refusing to instruct Appellant's Request to Charge Number 4 on the "Protection of Persons and Property Act," S.C. Code § 16-11-410 *et seq.* ("the Statute"), because the request was a correct statement of law and was supported by facts in evidence. The Statute was intended to extend the common-law Castle Doctrine to occupied vehicles and thus provide citizens with the ability to protect themselves with deadly force and avoid the need for retreat when attacked in their vehicles. Appellant presented evidence that he was attacked by the alleged victim while inside his vehicle, exited the vehicle to confront him without violence, and began to shoot only after the alleged victim threatened Appellant's life and appeared to be reaching for a weapon in the area immediately outside Appellant's vehicle. Under these circumstances, Appellant was entitled to a jury instruction consistent with the Statute, as Appellant was attacked inside his vehicle and confronted the threat in a protectable area outside his vehicle. Thus, Appellant was entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear of imminent danger absolving him of the duty to retreat.

A. The Trial Court Commits Error by Failing to Give a Requested Charge on a Correct Statement of Law that is Raised by the Evidence.

The trial court is required to charge the correct law applicable to the case. *State v. Rayfield*, 369 S.C. 106, 119, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006); *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 478-79, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). When a party requests the trial court charge a correct and applicable principle of law, the court must charge it. *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). When reviewing a challenge to the court's refusal to use the specific language in a request to charge, the appellate court

must consider the charge as a whole in evaluating whether the trial court charged the correct law applicable to the case. *Id.* at 549, 713 S.E.2d at 603.

The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. *State v. Gaines*, 380 S.C. 23, 31, 667 S.E.2d 728, 732 (2008). The trial court has a duty to give a requested instruction that is supported by the evidence and correctly states the law applicable to the issues. *State v. Peer*, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should give a requested charge on the matter. *State v. Burriss*, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999).

The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand constitutes an error of law. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2007); *see also State v. Peay*, 321 S.C. 405, 410, 468 S.E.2d 669, 672 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding that the refusal by the Court to charge the requested charge was an abuse of discretion in that it was error to omit applicable statutory law for the circumstances raised by evidence). On review of a jury charge, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole in view of the evidence and issues presented at trial. *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 311, 536 S.E.2d 408, 425 (Ct. App. 2000).

B. Appellant Was Entitled to a Jury Charge on the Protection of Persons and Property Act as it Applied to His Duty to Retreat Before Using Force.

Appellant's counsel properly requested a jury charge on the Protection of Persons and Property Act because Appellant presented evidence that he was attacked inside his vehicle and used force in self-defense in an protectable area immediately outside the vehicle.

Under the common law of self-defense, a defendant is required to retreat if he has “no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in [the] particular instance.” *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 545, 500 S.E.2d 489, 493 (1998). Unless the incident occurs in the accused's home or business or in the curtilage thereof, the accused generally has a duty to retreat. *Id.* at 548 n. 15, 500 S.E.2d at 494 n. 15.

By enacting the Protection of Persons and Property Act, the General Assembly intended “to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person's home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person's place of business.” S.C. Code § 16-11-420(A). More specifically, the Statute provides that “no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code § 16-11-420(E). Therefore, the Statute expressly modifies the common law of self-defense by absolving a defendant from the duty to retreat before using force when attacked in an occupied vehicle.

Appellant's Request to Charge 4 correctly stated the law under the Statute as it applied to the duty to retreat from an occupied vehicle, and Appellant was entitled to that charge. Appellant was threatened and attacked by Nichols while in the passenger seat of his own, occupied vehicle. Appellant presented evidence that Nichols approached Appellant's vehicle and forcefully entered the vehicle by throwing a soda can inside, striking the Appellant. Appellant was not at fault at bringing about this confrontation; the attack occurred while Appellant's vehicle was stopped at a stop sign at a place he had a legal right to be. Appellant presented testimony that he peaceably exited his vehicle in

order to repel the attack by Nichols, and the shooting occurred immediately outside Appellant's vehicle only after Nichols threatened Appellant's life, aggressively approached Appellant, and appeared to be reaching inside his pants for a weapon.

Although the trial court properly instructed the jury on the law of self-defense,² the court refused Appellant's requested charge on the additional protections afforded those attacked in occupied vehicles provided by the Statute, on the grounds that Appellant exited the vehicle before the shooting at issue occurred. (R. p. 365, ln. 25—p. 366, ln. 9.) However, both the common law Castle Doctrine and the language of the Statute itself suggest that Appellant was within the intended scope of the law when he exited his vehicle to confront Nichols' threat. Appellant submits that occupied vehicles have a protectable curtilage within which there is no duty to retreat once the alleged victim has forcibly entered the defendant's property, just as for dwellings and places of business.

In *Wiggins*, the Court noted, with respect to the common law of self-defense when protecting one's place of business, that, "consistent with this 'curtilage rule,' the absence of a duty to retreat on one's place of business applies to the business parking lot." *Wiggins*, 330 S.C. at 548 n. 15, 500 S.E.2d at 494 n. 15. (citing *Brooks*, 252 S.C. 504, 167 S.E.2d 307 (holding that if business proprietor was exercising good faith attempt to eject and was assaulted, he would have no duty to retreat, thus holding that self-defense applied to a shooting occurring in a parking lot outside the defendant's tavern)). In that

² The trial court instructed the jury on the common law duty to retreat prior to engaging self-defense: "And the final element of self-defense is that the defendant had no other possible way to avoid the danger of death or serious bodily injury than to act as the defendant did in this particular instance. By this, I mean the defendant need not retreat in order to avoid the need for deadly force if it is not possible or did not reasonably appear possible to retreat without danger of being killed or suffering serious bodily injury." (R. p. 360, lns. 5-12.)

case, the defendant presented evidence that he shot and killed the alleged victim in the parking lot outside his motel in self-defense after the alleged victim refused to leave and threatened the defendant with a gun. The Court agreed with Wiggins that he had no duty to retreat under these circumstances, as the protectable curtilage of the motel extended to its parking lot. *Id.*

Similarly, in this case, Appellant presented testimony that he was attempting in good faith to repel Nichols from further attacking him inside his own vehicle, and he did so by exiting the vehicle, circling to the side where Nichols was standing, and attempting to speak with Nichols. Appellant only fired shots at Nichols when Nichols aggressively approached Appellant and his vehicle, threatened Appellant's life, and appeared to be reaching for a weapon. Appellant had no more apparent ability to retreat from the area immediately outside his vehicle than he would have had inside his vehicle, and thus, like in *Wiggins*, Appellant should not have a duty to retreat before using force to meeting the alleged victim's threat.

Appellant concedes that this situation arguably differs from *Wiggins* in that the confrontation occurred not in a business parking lot, but in the public roadway immediately outside Appellant's vehicle.³ However, Appellant respectfully submits that the absence of the defendant's duty to retreat in *Wiggins* when attacked attempting in

³ Appellant notes that the Court has not expressly ruled on the issue of whether a public area can constitute the curtilage of a protected area, but leaves open the instant question of whether a Castle Doctrine instruction is appropriate under such circumstances. *See State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011) ("We do not think it necessary to determine whether curtilage can extend to a public sidewalk, because we find the State failed to disprove beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner had no other probable means of avoiding the danger.").

good faith to repel the alleged victim from the parking lot immediately outside his place of business is analogous to this case, in which Appellant exited his vehicle in a good faith attempt to repel Nichols from further attack. While Appellant still must satisfy the additional elements of self-defense, the common law duty to retreat is equally inapplicable to the area immediately outside Appellant's vehicle as it is to the area immediately outside the defendant's place of business in *Wiggins*, such that an instruction on the Castle Doctrine is warranted. In both scenarios, the defendant's right to defend his property would be diminished if the obligation to retreat turned on whether he was physically inside his vehicle or place of business, when the threat to his property could be equally serious both inside and immediately outside the protected area.

Indeed, the trial court's ruling on Appellant's requested instruction suggests an interpretation of the Statute which would provide that the Statute never applies when a defendant exits his vehicle in order to repel an attack. Under such an interpretation, a defendant is only entitled to an instruction when the defendant uses self-defense to prevent attack when physically inside his vehicle. However, the plain language of the Statute suggests that Appellant need not have been physically inside his vehicle at the time of his act of self-defense in order to be absolved of the duty to retreat, so long as he was responding to a forceful intrusion into the vehicle.

The Statute imposes a presumption in which the defendant need not retreat under the following circumstances: (1) when the alleged victim was "in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; (2) the defendant "removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle"; or (3)

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