ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213026

The State,Respondent

v.

Jabari Linnen,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910
(843) 470-3725

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 04 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jabari Linnen (Appellant) was indicted at the May 19, 2011 term of the grand jury for Beaufort County for attempted murder (2011-GS-07-946) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (PWDCVC) (2011-GS-07-947). He was represented by Jim Brown, Esquire, of the Beaufort County Bar. The State was represented by Deputy Solicitor Sean P. Thornton of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit Solicitor's Office. (R.p.7). On September 17, 2012, jury qualification and selection were held before the Honorable Stephanie McDonald and on September 18-21, 2012, Appellant proceeded to trial by jury before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein. The jury found Appellant guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) as a lesser included offense of attempted murder and guilty of PWDCVC. He was sentenced to twenty (20) years' imprisonment for ABHAN and five (5) years' concurrent imprisonment for PWDCVC. (R.p.1-6; R.p.374, line 16-p.375, line 5). Appellant timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his conviction and sentence and subsequently submitted a Brief in support of his appeal. This Brief of Respondent (the State) follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 21, 2011, King David Williams was driving Appellant's car down Luther Warren Drive on St. Helena Island in Beaufort County, with Appellant in the passenger seat. When they stopped at the corner of Seaside Road and Luther Warren, they encountered the victim, Trey Nichols, standing next to an oak tree and cursing at Appellant. Nichols threw an empty Coke can at the car. Appellant then retrieved a pistol from the glove compartment, exited the passenger's side of the car, walked around to the driver's side and fired multiple shots at the victim. Nichols was struck at least six times in the arms, legs and chest, and suffered at least three life-threatening wounds; however, he survived the attack. (R.p.50, line 11-SROA.p.2-3, line 13; p.52, line 12-p.53, line 14; p.54, line 4-p.57, line 15; p.60, line 23-p.61, line 3; R.p.121, line 6-SROA.p.7; p.133, line 21; p.167, line 17-p.182, line 9; p.208, line 21-p.210, line 6; p.238, line 18-SROA.p.20; SROA.p.21; p.294, line 25).¹

Prior to the jury being sworn, Appellant sought a pretrial ruling on the admissibility of evidence of specific instances of violence on the part of Nichols. Appellant wanted to introduce this evidence in support of his theory of justifiable homicide by showing he had a reasonable apprehension of fear from Nichols at the time of the shooting. The trial court ruled it would allow testimony about three specific prior instances of violence committed by Nichols within three months of the shooting but would exclude evidence of two other prior instances which were significantly older in time. The court also ruled Appellant would be allowed to elicit opinion or reputation

¹ Although the accounts given by Nichols, Williams, and Appellant differ in some details about what happened immediately prior to the shooting, it is undisputed that Appellant was outside his vehicle when he pulled a pistol from behind his back and shot Nichols multiple times. Thus, Nichols had not unlawfully and forcibly entered Appellant's vehicle, was not in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering Appellant's vehicle, and was not removing or attempting to remove another person against his will from Appellant's vehicle.

evidence about Nichols if Appellant laid the proper foundation. (R.p.14, line 20-p.28, line 17). Appellant did not make a pretrial motion for immunity from prosecution under the “Protection of Persons and Property Act” (the Act), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to -450 (2007).²

After the jury was sworn, the trial judge made preliminary remarks to the jury and the parties made opening statements briefly outlining the forthcoming evidence and their respective theories of the case. (SROA.p.1, line 20-R.p.49, line 24). Appellant’s counsel stated in part:

April 21st, 2011. Mr. Nichols attacked Jabari Linnen using hostile words and harsh facts at the corner of Luther Warren Drive and Seaside Road. Jabari was without fault in bringing on that difficulty. Jabari stood his ground, because he reasonably believed that force was necessary to prevent great bodily injury or death.

Now, you’ll find out that Mr. Nichols has a reputation for violence. Mr. Nichols has earned this reputation. What are you going to find out about Mr. Nichols? We know that he has physically attacked his mother, grandmother, and grandfather within two-and-a-half months of April 21st, including one incident with his mother the very morning that this happened.

Now, why is Mr. Nichols’ reputation for violence or instances of violence important? Because a person in South Carolina has the right to expect to remain free from molestation and attack. We know that a person in South Carolina has a right to stand their ground. As a person in this State that has not engaged in any unlawful activity and who is in a place where he has a right to be, has the right to stand his ground and has no duty to retreat as long as he reasonably believes that the force used is necessary to prevent harm, death, great bodily injury, or death to himself or others or to prevent the commission of a violent crime.

So it is important to understand that while Jabari Linnen tried to raise a family, Mr. Nichols was raising hell on Seaside Road.

(R.p.47, line 25-p.49, line 2) (emphasis added). In cross-examining the State’s second witness, Brandon Beaton, Appellant’s counsel asked Beaton if he had any information to

² “Immunity under the Act is therefore a bar to prosecution and, upon motion of either party, must be decided prior to trial.” State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (emphasis added).

present to the jury indicating Appellant was not justified in standing his ground that day; however, the State's objection to the question was sustained. (R.p.51, lines 18-25).

Later, while cross-examining Investigator Jeremiah Fraser of the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office, Appellant asked if there had been any investigation into whether the shooting was lawful or unlawful. Fraser explained the police simply investigate the facts and present those facts to the solicitor's office in regard to whether a shooting might have been lawful. He acknowledged he was familiar with the term "justified shooting." (R.p.58, line 8-p.59, line 8; p.62, line 7-p.63, line 5; p.64, lines 18-25). Appellant was then allowed to cross-examine Investigator Fraser about the three previously admitted specific instances of violence committed by Nichols prior to the shooting. (R.p.65, line 13-SROA.p.4; SROA.p.5; p.93, line 7). On re-direct, Fraser noted that none of the three incidents had anything to do with Appellant. (R.p.94, line 10-SROAp.6, line 1). On re-cross, Appellant attempted to elicit reputation or opinion testimony about Nichols as a result of Fraser's knowledge of police investigations of prior incidents, but Fraser said he had not formed any opinion about Nichols' reputation for violence. Appellant's counsel then advised the trial court he had a matter of law. The judge excused the jury to allow the proffer of testimony and arguments regarding whether Appellant would be allowed to impeach Fraser's claim with extrinsic evidence not previously admitted. This evidence consisted of a DVD recording of the police interview of King David Williams, arrest warrants of Trey Nichols, and a Sheriff's Department summary of Trey Nichols. Appellant appeared to want to introduce this evidence to support his contention that Fraser actually does or should have an opinion about Nichols being a violent person. Appellant argued in part that he believed the questions were admissible to prove his

defense of “justification” and argued self-defense was merely a subset of justification. He claimed “justification” would include self-defense, “the right to stand your ground, statutorily,” and the defense of others. Ultimately, the trial court allowed Appellant to ask whether the incident reports from the previously admitted specific acts of violence led Fraser to form an opinion about Nichols but prohibited any attempts to ask Fraser about the other three pieces of extrinsic evidence. (SROA.p.6, line 6-p.121, line 2).

During his subsequent cross-examination of Williams, Appellant tried to show Nichols was a violent person who had an ongoing “beef” with Appellant. He also tried to establish that Appellant was in a place he had a right to be when he fired on Nichols in self-defense. (R.p.182, line 14-SROA.p.8; p.207, line 18). After the State rested, Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the attempted murder charge, arguing there was no evidence in the record of malice aforethought. He also noted the defense theory that his shooting of Nichols was justified, but he did not seek to invoke immunity under the terms of the Act. (R.p.213, lines 1-21).³

Appellant then presented evidence in his own defense. He further developed his theme that Nichols was a violent person by calling witnesses Regina Blanding, Paul Mitchell, Robert Blanding, and Desiree Blanding on his behalf. (R.p.214, line 11-p.233, line 22; p.234, line 3-SROA.p.9-16; p.235, line 25; p.236, line 1-SROA.p.17-19; p.237, line 21; R.p.300, line 12-p.308, line 10). Appellant also testified in his own defense,

³ In State v. Curry, our supreme court treated a challenge to the denial of immunity under the Act as preserved for review even though Curry improperly moved for immunity at the directed verdict stage rather than prior to trial, because the required pretrial procedure had not been established by the court at the time of Curry’s trial. 406 S.C. 364, 370 n.3, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 n.3 (2013) (citing State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011)). Here, Appellant’s trial was held in September of 2012, more than a year after the published opinion in Duncan. Thus, any attempt by Appellant to invoke immunity under the Act at the directed verdict stage or any other time after the trial commenced would have been untimely.

claiming he was scared of Nichols and got out of the car only because he wanted to talk to Nichols about his behavior. (R.p.238, line 18-SROA.p.20; p.294, line 25).

After the defense rested, the State called Investigator Fraser in rebuttal. (R.p.308, line 11-p.312, line 19). Prior to closing arguments, the trial court held an informal charge conference in chambers, after which Appellant submitted a set of seventeen requests to charge as Court's Exhibit Two. (R.p.289, line 1-p.317, line 17). Appellant's fourth request to charge states:

The Castle Doctrine, which recognizes that a person's home is his castle, has been extended to include an occupied vehicle. Residents and visitors of South Carolina have the right to remain unmolested and safe within their vehicles. A person who is engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a crime.

(Court's Exhibit Two). In his closing argument, Appellant focused on the theory that he was justified in shooting Nichols in self-defense. He argued he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, that he believed he was in imminent danger of great bodily danger or death, that he was in fact in imminent danger of great bodily injury or death, and that even though he had a duty to retreat, he did not reasonably believe retreat was possible. Appellant also focused on Nichols' violent nature and his allegedly aggressive approach towards Appellant once Appellant was outside the car. (R.p.318, line 19-p.329, line 1).

Next, the State made its closing argument and the trial court charged the jury on the law, including a detailed charge on the law of self-defense. The trial court did not charge the common law Castle Doctrine or any provisions from the Act. (R.p.329, line 8-

p.364, line 19). Following the jury charge, the trial judge asked if there were any additions or exceptions from either the State or Appellant. Appellant referenced Court's Exhibit Two and specifically asked that the trial judge charge the jury on "the right to stand your ground." He noted there were three particular sentences listed as the defendant's request for instructions number four, all or any part of which he wanted the trial court to charge. (R.p.364, line 20-p.365, line 10). The trial court ruled as follows:

Thank you so much, it is appropriate to put those on the record right now; so thank you so much for doing that. And thank you Mr. Brown for having filed this as a Court's Exhibit, that way it's very clear for our record of what those are. We addressed those yesterday and let me just say that I do not believe that the Castle doctrine, with regards to the vehicle, applies to those facts. Given the dictates of the Castle doctrine, given the facts of this matter that there was the Coke can that was thrown, and then this gentleman chose to get out of his car while on the public way, get out of the car, walk around the car, and walk towards the alleged victim and begin shooting. I don't believe that that is what is contemplated by the Castle doctrine. We will know one day, because it is a developing theory, so we will know.

(R.p.365, line 20-p.366, line 9). The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) as a lesser included offense of attempted murder and guilty of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. He was sentenced to twenty (20) years' imprisonment for ABHAN and five (5) years' concurrent imprisonment for the weapon charge. (R.p.1-6; R.p.374, line 16-p.375, line 5).

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied Appellant's request to give the jury a charge under the Protection of Persons and Property Act where Appellant never sought a pretrial determination from the trial court regarding immunity under the Act and where the evidence presented at trial could not, as a matter of law, establish immunity under any specific terms of the Act.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred by refusing to charge the jury on the "Protection of Persons and Property Act" (the Act), S.C. Code §§ 16-11-410 to -450, because his request to charge was a correct statement of law and was supported by facts in evidence. He maintains the Act was intended to extend the common law Castle Doctrine to occupied vehicles and thus provide citizens with the ability to protect themselves with deadly force and avoid the need for retreat when attacked in their vehicles. Appellant argues that since he was attacked inside his vehicle and confronted the threat "in a protectable area outside his vehicle" he was entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear of imminent danger absolving him of the duty to retreat and therefore was entitled to the requested jury charge. The State disagrees and submits Appellant was not entitled to a jury charge under the Act where he never sought immunity pursuant to the Act and where, as a matter of law, the evidence presented at trial could not establish immunity under any specific terms of the Act. Accordingly, the trial judge committed no error in refusing Appellant's request to instruct the jury on the Act, and Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. The conduct of a

criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and the appellate court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011) (quoting State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982)).

Law / Analysis

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